
City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

1 

 

CODES AND ORDINANCES COMMITTEE 
Of the Rochester City Council 
Thursday March 3, 2016 

City Council Chambers 
31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH 

7:00 PM 
 
Committee Members Present  Others Present 
Councilor Peter Lachapelle, Chair   Terence O'Rourke, City Attorney  
Councilor Elaine Lauterborn, Vice Chair Dan Fitzpatrick, City Manager 
Councilor Tom Abbott    Councilor Gray 
Councilor Donna Bogan    Jim Grant, Director of BZLS 
Councilor Robert Gates    Sheldon Perkins, Code Enforcement 
          Officer 
       Michael Allen, Police Chief 
       Steve Beaudoin, Resident 
       Dale Sprague, Somersworth City 
          Councilor   
      

MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order   
 

Councilor Lachapelle called the Codes and Ordinance Committee 
meeting to order at 7:00 PM. Nancy Carignan, Assistant City Clerk, took a 
silent roll call.  All committee members were present.  
 
2. Public Input 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle asked if any members of the public would like to 
address the committee on any issues not listed on the agenda.  There was 
no public input at that time.  Councilor Lachapelle closed public input at 7:01 
PM.  
 
3. Approval of the Codes and Ordinances Committee Minutes   
 

• February 4, 2016    
 

Councilor Abbott MOVED to ACCEPT the Codes and Ordinances 
Committee meeting minutes of February 4, 2016. Councilor Bogan seconded 
the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   

 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

2 

 

4. Pawnbrokers/Second Hand Dealers Ordinance Amendments 
 
Councilor Lachapelle asked if any committee members wanted to 

address the suggested amendments to pawnbrokers and secondhand 
dealers.  Councilor Gates suggested that the committee take no action on 
this item.  Councilor Lachapelle asked if any committee members wanted to 
keep this item in committee at this time or take no action.  There was no 
discussion. 

 
Councilor Gates MOVED to take no action regarding the Pawnbrokers 

and Second Hand Dealer amendments. Councilor Bogan seconded the 
motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   

 
 

5. Chapter 15.5 Highways, Sidewalks, Bridges and Street Lighting 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle explained that Chapter 15.5 was taken care of 
during the regular City Council meeting on March 1, 2016. 
 
6.  Penalties - Chapter 40.12 

 
Councilor Lachapelle asked Terence O'Rourke, City Attorney, to review 

the penalties with the committee.  Mr. O'Rourke explained that 40.12 
addressed that fines would have a maximum of $1000 per day for any code 
violation instead of the current $100 fine.  He said the City has the authority 
to do this. 

 
Councilor Bogan questioned the wording of the fine, where it is  

indicating a fine of $1000 each day after conviction or after violation and 
written notice.  She wanted to know if there was any leeway with the fine.  
Councilor Lauterborn agreed.  Mr. O'Rourke stated that it would be up to the 
court. 

 
Councilor Abbott said state statute would supersede any 

inconsistencies.  He referred to the "Property Maintenance Code," which has 
fines of $275 and $550. He asked if it should that be in this code.  Mr. 
O'Rourke said it would supersede.   

 
Councilor Lauterborn asked for clarification to the answer given to 

Councilor Bogan.  Mr. O'Rourke mentioned that when it came to the penalty 
phase it would be up to the court.  The resident knows they have been fined 
at that point. 

 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

3 

 

Councilor Lauterborn asked how this would work.  Mr. O'Rourke said 
the resident would get a written notice that they are in violation and he 
explained that there was no fine at the time of the notice.  Councilor 
Lauterborn explained that the wording was not clear.  Councilor Abbott 
explained that there are several other mechanics associated with the 
process.  He said there is the right to appeal and they can go before the 
Appeals Board for a stay of violation.   

 
Councilor Lauterborn asked if the amendment was proposed to 

generate revenue; who proposed it and why?  Mr. O'Rourke explained that it 
was to work in tandem with the ticketing processing system. 

 
Councilor Lachapelle explained that Steve Beaudoin, a resident, had 

brought it to the Codes and Ordinances Committee a few months back.  He 
wanted to  discuss  properties in violation of code and the course of speeding 
up the process. 

 
Jim Grant, Director of BZLS, explained why this is being 

recommended.  He said by having this tool it would help his office if they 
need it, but it might not be necessary to use it.  Mr. Grant discussed this 
further with the committee and gave them examples of some of the ongoing 
violations.  He said that his department will try and give verbal warnings, 
but some of the violations are blatant and that issuing tickets would help the 
process. 

 
Councilor Abbott felt that the committee needs to skip to Chapter 44 

to tie the two chapters together.  He said if they work with both they can 
understand it better.  Councilor Lachapelle agreed. 

 
7. Chapter 11.20 - Rescission 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle said that they are looking to change the Economic 
Development Fund.  Mr. O'Rourke stated that the City Council wants to 
rescind/take out section 11.20 from Chapter 11 Finance.  
 
 The Codes and Ordinances Committee discussed the flow of monies for 
this fund with Mr. O'Rourke.  Councilor Lachapelle asked if any members of 
the committee had any issues with recommending this change to the full 
City Council. 
 

Councilor Abbott MOVED to recommend to the full City Council on 
April 5, 2016, the repeal of Chapter 11.20.  Councilor Bogan seconded the 
motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote with the 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

4 

 

exception of Councilor Lachapelle who had to recuse himself from the vote, 
citing a possible conflict of interest.   

 
8. Chapter 44 - Creation 

 
 Councilor Lachapelle explained to the committee members that 
Chapter 44 had been kept in committee from a previous meeting. 
 
 Steve Beaudoin, resident, addressed the Codes and Ordinances 
Committee regarding the issues that he had addressed previously.  Mr. 
Beaudoin said that he did not know what chapter this ordinance should go 
in, but felt the City Attorney would put it where he thinks is best.  He 
explained that there are landlords and property owners in the City that are 
in violation of maintaining their property. 
 
 Mr. Beaudoin, as a landlord, told the committee that there was a 
particular property in the neighborhood of one of his rental properties that 
has been of issue and nothing is being done.  He went to show the 
apartment in that neighborhood and the individual who was to rent stated 
that he would not rent the property because of the location of the property 
in the neighborhood. 
 
 Mr. Beaudoin said he likes the proposed ordinance.  He felt it was fair 
and would help the Code Enforcement Officer take care of these situations 
without always having to deal with the courts.  He thought it would 
streamline things going forward and take the burden off the courts. 
 
 Mr. Beaudoin mentioned that Code Enforcement would be willing to 
work with the residents if they act on the violation and abide by the 
ordinances.  He  hopes that the Codes and Ordinances Committee will move 
forward on these ordinances.  He thanked the committee for their time. 
 
 Councilor Lauterborn questioned section ten (X) from RSA 31:39.  She 
wanted an explanation because it states that "this section shall not apply to 
violations of the New Hampshire building code."  Mr. O'Rourke explained that 
it does not apply in New Hampshire; however, under the adopted 
International Maintenance Code the City's citations are going to fall under 
this ordinance. 
 
 Councilor Lauterborn asked if they were looking to adopt 31:39.  
Councilor Lachapelle said that the committee is looking to adopt the Chapter 
44, which the City is entitled to do. 
 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

5 

 

 Councilor Abbott did not want to get into the technical issues, which 
could be disputed, but he explained to the committee that these penalties 
were less than they would be under the land use statute. Mr. Abbott 
mentioned that it only allows one penalty per citation. He liked the idea of 
the individuals getting a written notice; they will know their rights to appeal.  
He felt that this ordinance will help speed up the process and it is worth a 
shot.  Councilor Lachapelle agreed. 
 
 Sheldon Perkins, Code Enforcement Officer, introduced Dale Sprague, 
City Councilor from Somersworth, to the Codes and Ordinances Committee. 
 
   Mr. Sprague said that he wanted to address the committee on the 
Somersworth ordinance that they are already using.  He gave the committee 
handouts, which can be found attached to the minutes.   
 
 Mr. Sprague mentioned that SB 347 amended RSA 31:39 d, which 
helped cities in handling these citations.  He said that these citations now 
would be handled at the District Court level and not the Superior Court.  He 
cited how his city handles this type of property violation and gave examples 
of how the city enforces the violations.   
 
 Mr. Sprague said that currently the City of Somersworth has a fine of 
$100 for the first offense, which goes up to $275 for the second offense, and 
that fine will be charged each day until the violation is taken care of.   
 
 Mr. Sprague said that Somersworth had adopted a property 
maintenance code and he explained some of the issues they deal with, as 
well as the citation process.  He felt that his City has been successful with 
the process and it is a tool to help the City implement compliancy.  He said it 
also helps with property value.  
 
 Mr. Sprague wanted to urge the Codes and Ordinances Committee to 
communicate these changes to the City's residents and possibly inform the 
residents with a notice on the water bills. 
 
 Councilor Abbott asked if they only have the two penalties.  Mr. 
Sprague said that was correct and subsequent offenses would accrue daily.  
The committee discussed the fines further.  Mr. Sprague said they can 
suspend them the first time and not take action as long as they were 
compliant going forward.  He mentioned giving the property owned a 
probationary period to correct the problem.  Councilor Abbott discussed this 
further with Mr. Sprague. 
 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

6 

 

 Mr. Sprague explained that by implementing this process it gave his 
Code Enforcement department "teeth". 
 
 Councilor Abbott wanted to review the $1000 maximum fine further.  
Councilor Lachapelle explained that every day the citation goes up if the 
individual chooses to do nothing.  Mr. Sprague reiterated it is about the 
communication with the resident, as well as  educating them. 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle mentioned that there are some neighborhoods in 
the City which this ordinance would help.  
 
 Mr. Sprague wanted to let the Codes and Ordinances Committee that 
Rochester's Planning Department and Building, Zoning and Licensing 
Departments have been very good to work with. 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle asked Mr. O'Rourke if he had looked at 
Somersworth's ordinance.  Mr. O'Rourke confirmed that he had.  Councilor 
Lachapelle asked how he came up with the fee schedule.  Mr. O'Rourke 
stated that he and Jim Grant, Director of BZLS, worked on the schedule.  He 
mentioned that it is not revenue generated; it is about taking action 
immediately.  Mr. Grant explained that the higher penalties are geared to 
the exterior of the property and the larger penalty might help to expedite 
the problem.  He mentioned that interiors were also addressed because they 
are problematic, as well.  Councilor Lachapelle discussed this further and 
added that he did not have a problem with the fee schedule. 
 
 Councilor Abbott asked if there was a reason that this schedule could 
not be associated with the current building code to reflect the penalty 
provision as a catch-all.  Mr. O'Rourke discussed this further stating that the 
schedule could be added at the end of the violations, under "all other 
violations." 
 
 Councilor Abbott MOVED to amend Chapter 44 as it applies to other 
chapters, such as the Zoning ordinance, as well as to tie into all other 
violations.  He asked that $100 for first offence and $275 for second and 
subsequent as an additional change. 
  
 Councilor Lachapelle asked if the committee could make one motion to 
approve sending both Chapter 40.12, as amended, and Chapter 44, as 
amended, to the full City Council.  Mr. O'Rourke said that the committee 
could do that. 
 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

7 

 

Councilor Gates MOVED to recommend to the full City Council on April 
5, 2016, the amendments to Chapter 40.12 and the creation of Chapter 44.  
Councilor Bogan seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 
unanimous voice vote. 
 
9.      Other  
 
 Councilor Lachapelle asked the committee if any other member had 
new business to discuss.  He explained that he would like to discuss Rules of 
Order due to questions asked during the last regular City Council meeting.   
 
 He referred to sections 1.5 "Public Hearings" and 4.7 "Public Input."  
Councilor Lachapelle read these sections to the committee.  Councilor 
Lachapelle felt that these items were okay as is. 
 
 Councilor Lauterborn mentioned that Councilor Keans thought it was 
illegal.  She felt that it was a violation of a person's First Amendment rights.  
Mr. O'Rourke said not in New Hampshire.  The City Council does not have to 
have public comment and, if allowed, it can be limited and viewpoint neutral.  
He explained further. 
 
 Councilor Lauterborn asked about section 1.5 "Public Hearings."  Mr. 
O'Rourke stated that the same reasoning applies. 
 
 Councilor Lachapelle said that the City Council can always suspend the 
rules and allow this; they have done so in the past. 
 
 Dan Fitzpatrick, City Manager, explained that the meeting is the way 
the council conducts City business and the City Council has the right to 
control their meetings.  Mr. O'Rourke agreed with Mr. Fitzpatrick and he 
gave further explanation. 
 
 Councilor Abbott asked if this would apply to property owners.  
Councilor Lachapelle stated that the same thing would apply. 
 
 Councilor Gray asked if the minutes could reflect the City Attorney's 
comments within quotations to help other councilors that have similar 
questions, which are being asked, know that legal has answered the 
question.  Councilor Lachapelle stated that it could be done.   
 
 The Codes and Ordinances Committee discussed article 4.14 from 
Rules of Order elections and secret ballots.  Mr. O'Rourke explained that all 



City of Rochester  Codes and Ordinances Committee  
Draft   March 3, 2016 
 

8 

 

votes are public with the exception of elections.  He said the City Council is 
in compliance. 
 
 Councilor Abbott explained that there had been a court case pertaining 
to a sheriff in regards to this.  He said that if the City Council is not in 
compliance then the penalty would be against all of the members. 
 
 The Codes and Ordinances Committee discussed appointments versus 
regular elections.  Mr. O'Rourke said that an appointment is an elected 
position.  Councilor Abbott stated that he interpreted this differently.  
 
 Councilor Lachapelle addressed having a voice vote versus a secret 
ballot for an elected official.  Councilor Lauterborn cited that comes from 
State law. 
 
 Councilor Lauterborn asked Councilor Abbott if he wanted to change 
the Rules of Order when it pertained to casting votes.  Councilor Abbott said 
that there are three types of elections that the courts have made very clear 
about; however, he did not consider appointments an election.  Mr. O'Rourke 
stated that they did not have to change.  Councilor Abbott said if the way 
they are conducting the voting is acceptable with the City Attorney as it 
currently is, then it should not be changed. 
  
10.    Adjournment 
 

Councilor Gates MOVED to ADJOURN the Codes and Ordinances 
Committee meeting at 7:55 PM. Councilor Bogan seconded the motion. The 
MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   

 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
Nancy Carignan 
Assistant City Clerk 





TITLE III 
TOWNS, CITIES, VILLAGE DISTRICTS, 

AND UNINCORPORATED PLACES 
CHAPTER 31 

POWERS AND DUTIES OF TOWNS 

Power to Make Bylaws 

Section 31:39-d 

31:39-d Local Ordinance Citations; Pleas by Mail. – In addition to any other enforcement 
procedure authorized by law, and regardless of whether a town has adopted an administrative 
enforcement procedure under RSA 31:39-c, a local official with authority to prosecute an offense 
under any municipal code, ordinance, bylaw, or regulation, if such offense is classified as a 
violation under applicable law, may issue and serve upon the defendant, in addition to a 
summons to appear in the district court, a local ordinance citation as set forth in this section. The 
defendant receiving such a citation may plead guilty or nolo contendere by mail by entering that 
plea as provided herein. If such a plea is accepted by the district court and the prescribed fine is 
paid with the plea by mail, the defendant shall not be required to appear personally or by 
counsel; otherwise the defendant shall appear as directed by the court. The following procedure 
shall be used:  
I. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a complaint and summons may be served upon 
the defendant by postpaid certified mail, return receipt requested. Return receipt showing that the 
defendant has received the complaint and summons shall constitute an essential part of the 
service. If service cannot be effected by certified mail, then the court may direct that service on 
the defendant be completed as in other violation complaints.  
II. The local ordinance citation shall contain:  
(a) The caption: "Local Ordinance Citation, Town (City) of __________''.  
(b) The name of the offender, and address if known to the prosecuting official.  
(c) The code, ordinance, bylaw, or regulation the offender is charged with violating.  
(d) The act or circumstances constituting the violation.  
(e) The place of the violation.  
(f) The date, if any, upon which the offender received written notice of the violation by the 
municipality.  
(g) The time and date, if any, upon which any further violation or continuing violation was 
witnessed subsequent to such written notice.  
(h) The amount of the penalty that is payable by the offender. If the offense is a continuing one 
for which a penalty is assessed for each day the offense continues, the amount of the penalty 
shall be based on the number of days the violation has continued since the time notice was given 
to the offender, up to a maximum of 10 days' violation charged in one citation.  
(i) Instructions informing the defendant that the defendant may answer the citation by mail or 



may personally appear in court upon the date on the summons, and instructing the defendant how 
to enter a plea by mail, together with either the amount of the penalty specified in the citation, or 
a request for a trial.  
(j) The address of the clerk of the district court where the plea by mail may be entered.  
(k) A warning to the defendant that failure to respond to the citation on or before the date on the 
summons may result in the defendant's arrest as provided in paragraph V.  
(l) The signature of the prosecuting official.  
III. Defendants who are issued a summons and local ordinance citation and who wish to plead 
guilty or nolo contendere shall enter their plea on the summons and return it with payment of the 
civil penalty, as set forth in the citation, to the clerk of the court prior to the arraignment date, or 
shall appear in court on the date of arraignment.  
IV. Civil penalties collected by the district court under this section shall be remitted to the 
municipality issuing the citation. Whenever a defendant (a) does not enter a plea by mail prior to 
the arraignment day and does not appear personally or by counsel on or before that date or move 
for a continuance; or (b) otherwise fails to appear for a scheduled court appearance in connection 
with a summons for any offense, the defendant shall be defaulted and the court shall determine 
what the civil penalty would be upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere and shall impose an 
administrative processing fee in addition to the civil penalty. Such fee shall be the same as the 
administrative processing fee under RSA 502-A:19-b, and shall be retained by the court for the 
benefit of the state.  
V. The court may, in its discretion, issue a bench warrant for the arrest of any defendant who:  
(a) Is defaulted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph IV of this section;  
(b) Fails to pay a fine or other penalty imposed in connection with a conviction for a violation of 
a local code, ordinance, bylaw, or regulation which a court has determined the defendant is able 
to pay, or issues a bad check in payment of a fine or other penalty; or  
(c) Fails to comply with a similar order on any matter within the court's discretion.  
VI. For cause, the court in its discretion may refuse to accept a plea by mail and may impose a 
fine or penalty other than that stated in the local ordinance citation. The court may order the 
defendant to appear personally in court for the disposition of the defendant's case.  
VII. The prosecuting official may serve additional local ordinance citations, without giving 
additional written notice or appeal opportunity under paragraph I, if the facts or circumstances 
constituting the violation continue beyond the date or dates of any prior citation. A plea of guilty 
or nolo contendere to the prior citation shall not affect the rights of the defendant with respect to 
a subsequent citation.  
VIII. Forms and rules for the local ordinance citation and summons shall be developed and 
adopted by the New Hampshire supreme court.  
IX. This section is not intended in any way to abrogate other enforcement actions or remedies in 
the district or superior court, nor to require written notice as a prerequisite to other types of 
actions or remedies for violations of local codes, ordinances, bylaws, or regulations.  
IX-a. For any offense that is subject to enforcement under RSA 676:17, a person who fails to 
respond to a citation under this section within the time stated in the citation shall be subject to the 
subsequent offense penalties of RSA 676:17.  
X. This section shall not apply to violations of the New Hampshire building code as defined in 
RSA 155-A:1, IV, or to motor vehicle offenses under title XXI or any local law enacted 
thereunder.  



Source. 2009, 270:1, eff. Jan. 1, 2010. 2014, 77:1, 2, eff. Jan. 1, 2015. 

 








	CODES AND ORDINANCES COMMITTEE
	Committee Members Present  Others Present
	Councilor Peter Lachapelle, Chair   Terence O'Rourke, City Attorney
	Councilor Elaine Lauterborn, Vice Chair Dan Fitzpatrick, City Manager
	MINUTES

	Chapter 31 39 d.pdf
	TITLE III TOWNS, CITIES, VILLAGE DISTRICTS, AND UNINCORPORATED PLACES
	CHAPTER 31 POWERS AND DUTIES OF TOWNS
	Power to Make Bylaws
	Section 31:39-d




